NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 10024-0018
(Oct. 1990) e

prcgz\;rg 9780

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Registration Form

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in How to Complete the
National Register of Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in the appropriate box or
by entering the information requested. If an item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for “not applicable.” For functions,
architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. Place additional
entries and narrative items on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Property

historicname  Franklin Landers-Black & Adams Farm
other names/site number _Mt_Aetna Stock Farm 109-428-25019

2. Location

street & number 2430 S. Old SR 67 N/A_O not for publication
city ortown  Brooklyn N/A_ 0O vicinity

state  Indiana code IN county Morgan code _109 zip code 46158

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this XI nomination
[ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
X meets (] does not mget the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

(J nationally [ gja X locally. ( (I See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

: %/5/ 0

ing official/Title Date

Signature 6f certi

\
|
13 l
Indiana Department of Natural Resources ,‘
[ State or Federal ayency and bureau r

R—
i In my opinion, the property 0 meets [J does not meet the National Register criteria. ( ] See continuation sheet for additional !
! comments.) f
| |
J Signature of certifying official/Title Date ‘
. |
} State or Federal agency and bureau ‘
/]
e N
| herelfy certify that the property is: gnature offthe Keeper Date of Actio
entered in the National Register. 7@
O See continuation sheet. D A W _ q 22,

(] determined eligible for the
National Register
7 See continuation sheet.

] determined not eligible for the
National Register

3 removed from the National Register
O other, (explain:)




Franklin L anders-Black & Adams Farm Morgan  IN

Name of Property . ’ County and State
5. Classification .
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box) (Do not include previously listed resources in the count
X private X building Contributing Noncontributing
(] public-local [ district -
. . buildings
[] public-State [ site > 0 ‘w s
(] public-Federal [ structure 0 0 sites
[ object 2 0 structures
1 0 objects
8 0 Total
Name of related multiple property listing Number of contributing resources previously listed

(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.) in the National Register

N/A 0
6. Function or Use
Historic Functions Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)

~ _DOMESTIC: _____ SingleDwelling ~ ____ DOMESTIC: ___ Single Dwelling
AGRICULTURE/SUBSIST _ gomee  WORK IN PROGRESS . .
AGRICULTURE/SUBSIST : o ——Multiple Dwelling

AGRICULTURE/SUBSIST Agricultural Outbuilding

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
_ LATEVICTORIAN:  Ttalianate foundation BRICK
OTHER: dairy barn
walls BRICK
_ STONE: Sandstone
roof ASPHALT
other CONCRETE

Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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8. Statement of Significance
(I\Ra%!l'g(gli:t,\lgnggprg&g Ibggg%g} ﬁn'égrfgﬁ; l¢:|aualifying the property ?Er,ﬁg,s cftggso',?e's' 'ff:,f:i?,ft?ucﬁons)
for National Register listing.) CHITECTURE
. : . ARC C )
[X]A Property is associated with events that have made AGRICULTURE
a significant contriibution to the broad patterns of .
 our history. P COMMUNITY PLANNING &
X B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.
X]c Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant o
and distinguishable entity whose components Period of Significance
lack individual distinction. 1862-1943
[]p Property has yielded, oris likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.
. Significant Dates
Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 1862, 1901, 1907, 1943
Property is:
[JA owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes. Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)
(1B removed from its original location. Landers, Eranklin
[Jc abirthplace or grave. Cultural Affiliation
[ 1D acemetery. N/A
[ JE areconstructed building, object, or structure.
[JF  acommemorative property.
less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years. Architect/Builder
unknown

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)
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Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

£

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitte _Joanne Raetz Shlﬁgen

organization date 2/14/00
street & number  759.E. Washington St telephone _765-349-1537

city ortown  Martinsville state In.___ zipcode 46151

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items ,
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name Steve and Donna Holloway
street & number 2430 S. Old SR 67 : telephone

city ortown  Maoresville state In zipcode 46158
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Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION
Franklin Landers House
Exterior

The 1862 Franklin Landers House (site #109-428-26019), rated Notable in the Morgan County
Interim Report, is a two-story, brick rectangular mass house with rear ell built over a full
basement. Painted white since about 1930, it features a ¢.1920 one-story wrap-around veranda
constructed of molded, segmented concrete columns, a cobblestone-like wall below the concrete
deck, and concrete blocks alternating to form a balustrade.

The cross-hipped roof is covered with brown asphalt shingles. Three brick chimneys emerge from
the roof at the center of the house; a fourth chimney is found inside the south wall of the ell.
Beneath the projecting roof and porch eaves are decorative wood brackets. The gutters are
boxed.

The main elevation faces south. It exhibits a symmetrical facade with a slightly projecting central
pavilion with gable pediment; the pavilion is pierced on the first floor by an entrance surrounded
by bold Italianate brackets made of wood. Originally, the door was solid paneled wood, but
about 1910, the middle panel was replaced by leaded glass, long since stolen and replaced by a
solid piece of glass. The semi-circular stained glass transom dates to ¢.1910. The central mass is
pierced by four pairs of six-over-six double hung sash windows with semi-circular three-light
transoms. Above the entrance is found an attenuated pair of arched windows; once clear glass,
they have been filled with stained glass since ¢.1910. The bottom stained glass lights were stolen
years ago and replaced with clear glass. Between these windows is a limestone block inscribed
BUILT BY F L.

The secondary elevation faces east; because it faces Old State Road 67, it is commonly perceived
and used today as the front of the house. The east wall of the central mass projects from the east
wall of the ell. Entrances are found in the north wall of the main mass and the east wall of the ell.
The door in the main mass is paneled wood with a single large window and rectangular, two-light
transom. The door in the ell is solid paneled wood topped by a rectangular two-light transom.
Unlike the arched windows in the central mass, the windows in the ell are rectangular, six-over-
six, double hung sash with limestone sills and brick lintel courses overhead. The concrete veranda
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wraps around the east elevation from the south. The ell features a second story veranda of wood
posts, Italianate-inspired spandrels and a wood post balustrade. It is original to the house.

The north elevation is undistinguished, with the north wall of the ell pierced by two rectangular
six-over-six double hung sash windows, and the north wall of the main mass altered by the
replacement of a single entrance (the limestone sill remains) with a bank of three double-hung
leaded glass windows dating to ¢.1910.

The west elevation of the ell is pierced by three rectangular windows on the second story and a
solid wood paneled door and two windows on the first story. The door features a two-light
rectangular transom. The west wall of the main mass originally was pierced with three pairs of
symmetrically placed arched windows, one window directly above one below. About 1910,
however, the northernmost first floor window was replaced by a bank of three rectangular,
double-hung leaded glass windows. Just above ground level are three basement openings: two
two-light fixed windows flanking a solid wood paneled door with rectangular transom.

Interior
Basement

The basement and two above-ground floors have identical plans (see drawings 1, 2, 3); each floor
has seven original rooms. The basement walls—both interior and exterior-are constructed of
brick. Windows are rectangular with a slightly arched top; those that have not been infilled with
brick have two lights. After the porch was added to the house about 1910, many of the basement
windows were obscured and neglected; they were filled in the late 1980s.

A significant feature of the basement is a refrigeration system consisting of a brick flue that drew
in cold air from the outside and ran it through channels under the dirt floor, helping to keep cold
ice-packed foodstuffs stored in a basement room during summer and winter.

The basement is accessed through an exterior door on the west side of the house, as well as from
the secondary foyer off the kitchen.
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First Floor

The first floor consists of a secondary and primary foyer and seven rooms—two parlors, a dining
room, sun room, library/farm office, a bath and a kitchen. Ceilings throughout are at a height of
twelve feet. The following architectural description begins with the secondary foyer, now the
commonly used entrance to the house, and moves roughly counterclockwise through the first
floor.

The secondary foyer is found on the east side of the house. The exterior paneled door is solid
wood. The painted molding is poplar. A paneled wood door leads to the basement; two other
doors lead to the kitchen and dining room. The staircase is utilitarian, with square, painted poplar
spindles and an oak banister. On the landing between floors, the tapered newel post is hand-
shaped poplar.

The kitchen is believed to originally have been an informal dining room. It features a new,
unpainted, molded tin ceiling and custom built cabinets that echo the original door and window
moldings and paneled doors. New paneled doors conceal a pressed closet to the left of the
chimney. An exterior door with a large, rectangular, three-light transom is found in the west wall.
Off the kitchen’s southwest corner is found a bath, believed to have originally been a pantry
tucked under the secondary stairs. The interior paneled door is original. Two rectangular
windows are six-over-six double hung with triangular hood moldings with decorative crowns
similar to those found over the doors.

Moving south through the secondary foyer, one enters the dining room and the formal part of the
first floor. The windows are double hung six-over-six light with Italianate arched hoods with
molded spandrels. Wood crown and high floor moldings contribute to the formality of the room.
The flooring is maple parquet. A painted brick mantle dates to the 1930s or 1940s; to the left is a
shallow press closet with paneled wood door. A two-inch gas pipe runs along the right side of
the chimney. On the south wall is found a paneled door to a closet underneath the main staircase
and three other doors: one leading into the west parlor, one into the east parlor, and one into the
primary foyer. About 1910, the original west wall of the dining room was removed to provide
access to what became at that time the sun room.

Originally, the sun room was a separate room, with an exterior entrance in the north wall, a
window in the west wall, and a door to the west parlor in the south wall. About 1910, this room



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 7 Page4 Franklin Landers-Black and Adams Farm, Brooklyn,
Morgan County, IN

was altered by boxing in the west (exterior) wall to create useable space in which plumbing and
electric wires could be fed from the basement to the upper story. The single west window and
north door were converted into two banks of three leaded glass, double hung sash windows.
Today, reports a glass specialist, the glass is clouded from years of coal smoke.

South of the sun room is the west parlor. It features an original Italian marble mantle, an
aesthetic plaster ceiling medallion of acanthus leaves and grapes, and plaster crown molding. The
two arched six-over-six double hung sash windows in the south wall are walkouts; the two
windows in the west wall are not. All window trim features molded spandrels. Doors to the
sunroom and main foyer are painted, solid paneled wood. The floor is maple. Plaster walls are
covered with new paper.

The main foyer is centrally located on the south side of the house and features a staircase with
American black walnut newel post, oak banister and oak spindles. The walls are painted plaster
(the historic wallpapers have been removed). The floor and door moldings are painted poplar; the
original faux grain can be detected beneath layers of later paint. The exterior and interior doors
are paneled poplar. The single pane window in the exterior door replaces a ¢.1910 leaded glass
window like that found in the east parlor; it is believed to have been stolen. The semi-circular
stained glass transom also dates to ¢.1910.

Through a door in the southeast corner of the main foyer is the east parlor. It is similar to the
west parlor, featuring a plaster ceiling medallion with pears and other fruit and plaster crown
molding and two arched six-over-six double sash hung walkout windows with molded spandrels
on the south wall; the east wall is pierced by one other window, with an exterior door used to
maintain symmetry. Beautifying the paneled wood door are a window made from hand cut and
polished one-half-inch glass prisms held by lead and a semi-circular overhead stained glass
transom, both added about 1910, beautify the paneled wood door. A cast iron Italianate mantle is
not original to the house; the original mantel-presumed to have been marble like that in the west
parlor—was stolen.

North of the east parlor is Franklin Landers’s library and farm office. One arched window with
molded spandrels pierces the east wall, and an exterior door leads outside to the porch. The door
is unlike any other in the house with simple panels, one large window, and a two-light rectangular
transom. The library/office projects a feeling of functionalism and lacks the ornamentation of the
other first floor rooms.
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Second floor

The original second floor plan is identical to that of the first floor. About 1910, however, the
single large room in the ell was subdivided with the addition of two perpendicular plaster and lath
walls (see drawing 3). The current owners, Steve and Donna Holloway, will remove these walls
and restore the size of the original room.

The following description of the second floor begins with the altered south chamber and proceeds
south to the main staircase. The second floor rooms exhibit less ornamentation than those on the
first floor, lacking molded spandrels over the windows, for example, and having simpler floor
moldings and wood mantels instead of marble. The mantels lack fireplaces but instead were
decorative accompaniments to wood stoves. The rooms are also not as elaborately redecorated
with new wallpapers and paints. The flooring throughout is maple. Ceilings are at a height of ten
feet.

The south chamber is currently subdivided into three separate areas. Remnants of a ¢.1910 bath
are found in the west partition, and the east partition is a small chamber; each is lit by one
rectangular six-over-six double hung sash window. A plaster and lath wall running the width of
the ell divides the original secondary upper foyer in two.

The secondary upper foyer, also located in the ell, features a staircase with oak banister and
simple poplar newel post and square balusters. A solid paneled wood door leads to the second
story veranda.

The main upper foyer, located in the central mass, consists of a large T-shaped room, with the
top of the T anchored by a new period bath (formerly a chamber) on the west and a small
chamber on the east. Each chamber is lit by an arched six-over-six double-hung sash window.
The foyer extends to the south wall, with the staircase ascending along an east wall shared by
another chamber. The foyer is lit on the south by a pair of attenuated arched windows. The
arched transom and two upper lights are filled with stained glass; the lower six lights, once also
stained glass but since stolen, are plain glass.

There are two large chambers located on either side of the foyer. The west chamber features a
molded wood mantle with a press closet with solid wood paneled door to its left. Four arched
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six-over-six double hung sash windows with two-light semi-circular transoms, two each in the
west and south walls, light the room. The east chamber has similar features with the exception
of a mantel; a press closet is found in the west wall and two arched six-over-six double hung sash
windows in the east wall.

Black and Adams Livestock Barn

Built between 1907-1908 by John Black and Howard Adams, the immense dairy barn is described
in the February 24, 1909, issue of The Jersey Bulletin, Vol. XXVII, No. 8, as follows. A current
description of the barn can be found after the historic description.

“Size of barn: Barn is built in the form of a Maltese cross, 106x96x30, and stalls 80 head of cattle
in main part. Has a two-story feed house attached to south side, 86x18; upper floor being used
for mill feed and grinding machinery. Basement of feed house has a capacity of 25 head of calves,
or yearlings, and several box stalls for cows about to freshen. Have also a twelve-horse-power
gasoline engine in basement for utilizing to grind corn,, oats, etc.

“Construction of main building: Barn is built of brick with a 13-inch hollow wall, and has a
mansard roof, giving a tremendous loft capacity. Roof is self-supporting, and there is not a timber
in the loft to interfere when filling barn with hay. Capacity of loft is 200 tons; equipped with a
double track, with switch, making it possible to put hay in at both north and east doors. It
required 80,000 shingles to cover main part of barn.

“Ventilation: The King system of ventilation is used, and each animal has 600 cubic feet of fresh
air when the barn is closed up tight. Barn is equipped also with 30 windows, 7 %2 x2 %, giving
about 540 square feet of window space. Sash equipped with cords and weight, giving ample
opportunity to ventilate by means of windows if necessary. The coldest days of the present winter
have never sent the thermometer below 48 degrees, and as a rule it keeps about 55 degrees,
insuring a comfortable temperature for the cattle notwithstanding weather conditions outside. No
artificial heat is used, but the animal heat and perfect system of ventilation insure a reasonably
comfortable temperature at all times.

“Stalls are 54 inches in length for medium size cows, and in cases of large cows racks are place in
group behind cows, insuring comfort when lying down. All stalls are three feet six inches in width
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and are separated by iron partitions. . . . Cows are confined in stanchions and chained when in
winter quarters.

“The entire interior of the barn is cement construction and is absolutely sanitary in every detail.
The floors are underlaid with sewers and a bucket of water emptied at any point in the barn will
find outlet at some of the various bell traps to sewer. All liquid manure goes out through sewers
in groups. Cows are fed out of long cement trough, twelve inches wide by six deep, and feed
alley between cows is seven feet in width, all cows standing facing each other.

“After feeding ensilage and grain, cows are watered in same trough by means of 50-feet hose from
hydrant in center of barn. When cows have drunk their fill, a centre plug is taken out of trough
and waste water goes to field through sewers. Water is supplied from a 200-barrel tank in loft of
barn, and tank is supplied by two sources. A windmill at house pumps water to tank, and in the
event of lack of wind, a rotary pump at the milk house run by the separator enforces water to
supply tank. During a long continued drought, when our neighbor farmers were hauling water for
miles, we had a constant supply of fresh, wholesome water to furnish unlimited quantities twice a
day to our cattle.

“Have four semi-box stalls in main barn for herd bulls, and they are fed and watered the same as
milk cows. Connected with the barn on the west end of same are two cement silos with a
capacity of 450 tons of silage. They are separated by a cement floor eight feet in width, and silage
is thrown directly into feed car from silo and run into barn and to feed alley between cows ready
to use.

“Handling of manure: Barn is equipped with a complete track running clean around, and after the
litter carrier is filled with manure it is run to east doors and dumped in spreader. If weather
conditions are favorable, it is taken directly to field and spread. If ground is muddy or too soft to
admit of going to the field, manure is taken to manure pit and thrown out until conditions are
favorable for spreading on field. . . .

“The barn is also equipped with guttering and down spouts; all down spouts have their ground
exit to sewers. All the water falling on the roof goes through the sewers and flushes them
thoroughly, so there is no danger of sewer tile clogging or filling up. . . .”

Current description:
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The barn retains its cruciform plan. Its brick walls are intact. The two-story feed house is
believed to have been destroyed in a 1913 fire and replaced with a similar structure that still
exists. It has long since been made into a single-family, five-bedroom residential rental unit. The
self-supporting roof remains unaltered, suspended by cast iron rods tied diagonally from the
exterior walls into the floor joists.

The roof is now covered with worn brown asphalt shingles added in the 1970s. The hay track has
been removed.

The original wood frame four-over-four double hung sash windows remain. In the 1970s, the
hayloft was converted into a church and the first floor into apartments. The stalls were removed
and the floor raised and the sewer, hydrant, feed and watering trough, manure track and feed
tracks removed or obscured. In recent months, the first floor has been completely gutted in
preparation for conversion into six apartments.

The silos and connecting floor remain. One silo will become a staircase between the first and
second floor lobbies made of the connecting floor; the other silo will be used for storage and
eventually will become an elevator shaft.

The hayloft will be converted into four apartments.
The two-story feed building will become two one-bedroom apartments.

The architectural and construction drawings are being prepared by Jeff Schroeder, AIA, of
Halstead Architects, Indianapolis.

Additional Resources

For the purpose of this nomination, the total resource count is eight. Included are three additional
contributing buildings: 1) a square tile brick auto garage with hipped asphalt roof near the house;
2) a mansard roofed calf barn constructed of cement block covered with a sandstone facade.

The calf barn is now a single family house not owned by Steve and Donna Holloway; and 3) a
concrete block auto garage now used for storage. Also included in the resource count is one
contributing object--a sidewalk of limestone slabs that ascends the east hill to the house—and two
contributing structures—a cement-lined ice house built into the south hill and an acetylene pit
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found in the west hill. According to an undated [about 1971] Mooresville Times newspaper
clipping, it is marked “Concrete Pit, February 16, 1909, The Jenne Acetylene Gas Machine Co.,
Serial No. 1760, Indianapolis, Indiana”.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Located just west of the Brooklyn town limits on Old State Road 67 in Clay Township, central
Morgan County, Indiana, the Franklin Landers-Black and Adams Farm (#109-429-26019)
includes an Italianate house built in 1862 and a brick livestock barn built about 1907, plus six
other contributing resources: two garages, a calf barn, an ice house, an acetylene pit, and a
limestone slab sidewalk.

The extensive property, rated Notable in the Morgan County Interim Report, is eligible for the
National Register of Historic Places under Criteria C, B, and A. The Franklin Landers House
embodies the distinctive characteristics of the Italianate style of architecture. The entire property
is associated with Franklin Landers, founder of Brooklyn, Indiana, and a prominent Indiana
politician and merchant, as well as John Black, a noteworthy Indiana stained glass artist, his son
James R. Black and son-in-law Howard E. Adams, all successful breeders of Jersey cattle. Lastly,
the property represents the transition between formative development and industrial maturity of a
typical central Indiana village, as well as the Golden Age of agriculture in Indiana. Its period of
significance is 1862-1950.

The settlement of Brooklyn began as early as 1819, when Benjamin Cuthbert constructed a mill
on the east bank of White Lick Creek. Soon after, a distillery, store, tannery and sawmill were
established, and the community developed into a pork-packing center. In 1854, Franklin Landers
platted the town of Brooklyn. The coming of the Indianapolis and Vincennes Railroad line
ushered in a period of prosperity for the little village, and the town boomed with the construction
of numerous residential and commercial properties.

The Franklin Landers House is the most significant property from the town’s formative years and
one of two exceptional examples of the Italianate style of architecture in Clay Township. The
other property, the Griggs House, is located just one and one-half miles to the south on Bottom
Road. Built 1864-1865, the Griggs House resembles the Franklin Landers House in its front
facade and interior plan. According to the late Mary Lou Holmes, a Griggs descendant and
owner/occupant of the Griggs House, both houses were built by “the Griggs brothers” [Solomon
and Abraham], the 1862 Landers House being used as the pattern for the later and smaller Griggs
House.
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The Italianate style of architecture dominated American houses constructed between 1850 and
1880. In A Field Guide to American Houses, Virginia and Lee McAlester write that the style was
part of the Picturesque movement, a reaction to formal classical ideals in art and architecture. In
America, the Italianate style generally followed informal rural rules, and identifying features
included an overall boxy form two or three stories in height; a low-pitched roof with wide,
overhanging eaves supported by decorative brackets; and tall, narrow, windows usually arched or
curved above (212). All of these features are retained with high integrity in the Franklin Landers
House.

The establishment of the Franklin Landers farm is a success story of one of Morgan County’s
early pioneers. Franklin Landers was born in Morgan County in 1825. At the age of 21, in 1846,
he opened a country store in nearby Waverly. The store and Landers prospered, and in 1853-54,
Landers bought a full section of land to the south and platted the town of Brooklyn on White Lick
Creek. He again engaged in the mercantile business, at the same time taking up diversified
farming and raising cattle, mules, and hogs, and soon became one of the largest and wealthiest
property owners in Morgan County. Through Landers’s philanthropy, Brooklyn developed as a
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